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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT  

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA 

 

PERSIMMON RIDGE, LLC, an Oklahoma   ) 

limited liability company,      ) 

    Petitioner,    ) 

         )  Case No. 17-CV-00025-TCK-TLW 

vs.         )  

         )     

RYAN ZINKE, et al.,        ) 

         ) 

    Respondents.    ) 

 

PETITIONER’S RESPONSE IN OPPOSITION TO MOTION TO DISMISS 

 

 Petitioner, Persimmon Ridge, LLC (“Persimmon”), hereby submits its Response in 

Opposition to Federal Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss [Dkt. 21] in the above referenced 

proceeding.   In support thereof, Persimmon shows the Court the following: 

INTRODUCTION 

 Since 1970 through present day, the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) has committed 

repeated and willful violations of the National Environmental Policy Act (“NEPA”), 42 U.S.C. § 

4321 et seq., by failing to conduct any site-specific environmental analysis prior to approving oil 

and gas drilling operations on lands owned by private citizens in Osage County.  Indeed, 

Department of Interior (“DOI”) officials admitted to these violations during an Office of 

Inspector General (“OIG”) audit of the Osage Agency conducted during 2013.1 Since May 2014, 

there have been at least seven lawsuits filed against the BIA seeking to remedy NEPA violations 

in the approvals of oil and gas operations by the BIA.  In the only case yet to be reviewed on the 

merits, Judge Frizzell ruled that the Osage Agency violated NEPA in its approval of a lease and 

                                                 
1 See https://www.doioig.gov/sites/doioig.gov/files/CR-EV-BIA-0002-2013Public1.pdf (last 

accessed July 17, 2017). 
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two drilling permits affecting a landowner’s property, and the approvals were set aside.  See 

Hayes v. Chaparral Energy, L.L.C., 180 F.Supp.3d 902 (N.D. Okla. 2016).  

 Here, Persimmon files this action pursuant to the Administrative Procedures Act 

(“APA”), 5 U.S.C. § 701 et seq., seeking to remedy violations of NEPA by the Osage Agency of 

the BIA in approving leases, drilling permits and assignments thereof, which affect Persimmon’s 

property.  The Federal Respondents’ Motion to Dismiss before this Court is a continuation of the 

government’s ongoing effort to avoid remedying these rampant NEPA violations that have led to 

an environmental wasteland in many parts of Osage County. 

I. PERSIMMON HAS ALLEGED SUFFICIENT FACTS TO PUT FEDERAL 

 RESPONDENTS ON NOTICE OF PETITIONER’S CLAIMS FOR RELIEF. 

 

 The Federal Respondents claim that Persimmon’s First Amended Complaint (“FAC”) 

fails to provide fair notice of Persimmon’s claims.  This argument is unavailing. 

 The notice pleading rules are “not meant to impose a great burden upon a plaintiff.” Dura 

Pharms., Inc. v. Broudo, 544 U.S. 336, 347 (2005). It is well established that “detailed factual 

allegations” are not necessary to withstand a Rule 12(b)(6) motion.  Bell Atlantic Corp. v. 

Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 555 (2007).  All that is required is that “a complaint must contain 

sufficient factual matter, accepted as true, to ‘state a claim to relief that is plausible on its 

face.’” Ashcroft v. Iqbal, 556 U.S. 662, 129 S.Ct. 1937, 1949 (quoting Twombly, 550 U.S. at 

570). A plaintiff must put forth “factual content that allows the court to draw the reasonable 

inference that the defendant is liable for the misconduct alleged.” Iqbal, 129 S.Ct. at 1949. A 

plaintiff may survive a 12(b)(6) motion even if “recovery is very remote and 

unlikely,” Twombly, 550 U.S. at 556 (citing Scheuer v. Rhodes, 416 U.S. 232, 236 (1974)), so 

long as the facts alleged in the complaint are “enough to raise a right to relief above the 

speculative level.” Id. at 555.  Persimmon’s FAC meets the requirements in Iqbal-Twombly. 
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 In the FAC, Persimmon alleges: 

 55. Since the enactment of NEPA through the date of filing of the 

Complaint herein, the Osage Agency Superintendent approved oil and gas leases, 

APDs and assignments directly affecting Persimmon’s property without 

conducting any environmental analysis.  As such, the Superintendent’s approvals 

violated NEPA and 25 CFR  § 226.2(c), which provides that “[e]ach oil and/or 

gas lease and activities and installations associated therewith subject to these 

regulations shall be assessed and evaluated for its environmental impact prior to 

its approval by the Superintendent.” (emphasis added.) 

 

 56. Pursuant to these invalid approvals, oil and gas operators have 

conducted activities upon Persimmon’s Property pursuant to these invalid 

approvals, which has resulted in actual harm to Persimmon. 

 

 57. Currently, Trey Resources, Inc. an Oklahoma corporation, is 

operating several wells on Persimmon’s Property. 

 

 58. The Superintendent’s failure to comply with NEPA prior to 

approving leases and APDs created an increased risk of actual, threatened and 

imminent environmental harm to Persimmon’s Property. 

 

 59. The Superintendent’s failure to conduct environmental analysis 

prior to granting these approvals was arbitrary and capricious, and, therefore, said 

approvals were legally inoperative. 

 

Thus, Persimmon has alleged that since the enactment of NEPA the Superintendent of the Osage 

Agency has approved oil and gas activities affecting Persimmon’s property without complying 

with NEPA by conducting a site-specific environmental assessment.  Persimmon further alleges 

that the failure to conduct environmental analysis in compliance with NEPA has created an 

increased risk of environmental harm to Persimmon’s property.  As such, Persimmon has placed 

the Federal Respondents on fair notice of its claims. 

 The Federal Respondents seek to impose a heightened burden on Persimmon to require 

pleading specific details concerning each approval affecting Persimmon’s property.  Neither Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 8(a) nor Iqbal-Twombly require such specificity.  This is especially true where all of 

the information necessary to make more detailed allegations is in the Agency’s exclusive 
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possession and control.  Under those circumstances, courts are entitled to apply a relaxed 

pleading standard. See Arista Records, LLC v. Doe 3, 604 F.3d 110, 120 (2nd Cir. 2010)(“The 

Twombly plausibility standard, which applies to all civil actions, . . . does not prevent a plaintiff 

from pleading facts alleged ‘upon information and belief’ where the facts are peculiarly within 

the possession and control of the defendant . . . .”); see also Braden v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 588 

F.3d 585, 597-598 (8th Cir. 2009)  

 As the United States Supreme Court has noted, “specific facts are not necessary” to 

survive a motion to dismiss. Swanson v. Citibank, N.A., 614 F.3d 400, 404 (7th Cir. 2010) 

(quoting Erickson v. Pardus, 551 U.S. 89, 93 (2007)). Here, Persimmon’s FAC clearly delineates 

the types of approvals being challenged, the applicable time frame, the basis for the challenge 

and the claimed deficiency with respect to the approvals being challenged. Any contention by the 

Federal Respondents that they lack fair notice of Plaintiffs claims is simply disingenuous.2  

II. PERSIMMON’S FAC IDENTIFIES FINAL AGENCY ACTION. 

 

 Next, the Federal Respondents contend that Persimmon lacks standing to bring these 

APA claims because Persimmon failed to “identify a specific final agency action or injury.”  

[Dkt. 21, p. 7].  The Federal Respondents’ argument lacks merit.  Persimmon has identified the 

approvals of the leases, drilling permits and assignments as having been made in violation of 

NEPA. Further, Plaintiff alleges in the FAC that it has suffered an increased risk and actual harm 

to its property as a result of these violations. See FAC, ¶ 56, 58.  As such, Persimmon has 

properly identified final agency actions, i.e., approvals of leases, drilling permits and 

                                                 
2 Remarkably, the Federal Respondents claim that they are not on fair notice of Persimmon’s 

claims, but they had sufficient information to locate the leases and drilling permits attached to 

their Motion to Dismiss. Certainly, the Federal Respondents are capable of compiling an 

administrative record consisting of all documents relating to approvals of leases, drilling permits 

and assignments since 1970 affecting the property owned by Persimmon. 
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assignments, and an injury to its interest, i.e., increased risk of injury and actual harm to 

property.  

 Similar to the Federal Respondents’ 12(b)(6) argument addressed above, this 12(b)(1) 

standing argument attempts to impose a heightened pleading standard on Persimmon.  As the 

Tenth Circuit noted in Dart Cherokee Basin Operating Co., LLC v. Owens, 730 F.3d 1234, 1236 

(10th Cir. 2013), the United States Supreme Court “has not imposed special burdens at the 

pleading stage with respect to jurisdictional issues.” Id. at 1236.  In Lujan v. Defenders of 

Wildlife, 504 U.S. 555 (1992), the Supreme Court stated: “At the pleading stage, general factual 

allegations of injury resulting from the defendant's conduct may suffice, for on a motion to 

dismiss we presume the general allegations embrace those specific facts that are necessary to 

support the claim.”   Id. at 561. 

 Thus, regardless whether Persimmon has provided specificity as to the approvals 

affecting its property, Persimmon has identified approvals of the leases and permits as the 

agency action, which were approved in violation of NEPA and adversely affect its real property.  

Persimmon’s FAC sets forth allegations, which if true, entitle Persimmon to the requested relief. 

Accordingly, the Federal Respondents’ standing argument should be rejected. 

III. TO THE EXTENT THAT THE DATE OF THE CHALLENGED APPROVALS 

 MAY BE BEYOND THE APPLICABLE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS, THE 

 LIMITATIONS PERIOD IS SUBJECT TO EQUITABLE TOLLING. 

 

 The Federal Respondents argue that Persimmon’s claims are barred by the six-year 

statute of limitations set forth in 28 U.S.C. § 2401(a).  However, because the administrative 

record has not been compiled, the Federal Respondents are seeking nothing more than an 
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advisory opinion from the Court on this issue.3  Nonetheless, assuming the administrative record 

contains approvals prior to January 17, 2011, Persimmon’s claims are entitled to equitable tolling 

of the statute of limitations as a result of the Osage Agency’s failure to provide notice of the 

approvals and its active concealment of its violation of NEPA.4  The Federal Respondents argue 

that equitable tolling is not available for the limitations period in § 2401(a), and that, even if 

available, Persimmon could have learned of the necessary information with reasonable diligence.  

The Federal Respondents’ argument lacks merit. 

A.  Consideration of Statute of Limitations is Premature. 

 

 Persimmon’s FAC does not plead any specific dates of the approvals.  As such, it is 

premature to argue about the statute of limitations until the administrative record is compiled. 

Persimmon’s decision not to include specific dates is permissible. See Goodman v. Praxair, Inc., 

494 F.3d 458, 465–66 (4th Cir. 2007); Hollander v. Brown, 457 F.3d 688, 691 n. 1 (7th Cir. 

2006); Benavidez v. Sandia Nat'l Labs., 212 F. Supp. 3d 1039, 1059 (D. N.M. 2016); Anderson 

Living Trust v. WPX Energy Prod., LLC, 27 F. Supp. 3d 1188, 1208–09, 1234–38 (D. N.M. 

2014). 

 B. Persimmon’s Claims are Subject to Equitable Tolling. 

 The doctrine of equitable tolling states that the limitations period starts running only 

when the wrong has been discovered. State of Ohio v. Peterson, Lowry, Rall, Barber, and Ross, 

651 F.2d 687 (10th Cir. 1981). The Federal Respondents contends that equitable tolling does not 

apply to § 2401(a) because the time limit therein is a “jurisdictional” restriction on the court’s 

                                                 
3 The Federal Respondents have attached copies of leases and drilling permits, but they may not 

convert this case to a motion for summary judgment as that procedure is not available under 

Olenhouse v. Commodity Credit Corp., 42 F.3d 1560, 1580 (10th Cir. 1994) 
 
4 Persimmon will be filing a Motion for Leave to Conduct Discovery to explore the equitable 

tolling issue. 
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power to adjudicate the case, relying upon John R. Sand & Gravel Co. v. United States, 552 U.S. 

130 (2008) [Dkt. 21, p. 11].  However, the Federal Respondents’ reading of  John R. Sand & 

Gravel Co. is in conflict with the Supreme Court’s holdings in Irwin v. Department of Veteran 

Affairs, 498 U.S. 89 (1990) and United States v. Kwai Fun Wong, 135 S. Ct. 1625, 1633 (2015).   

 In Irwin, the United States Supreme Court announced the rule that there is a rebuttable 

presumption that equitable tolling is available in cases against the federal government.  498 U.S. 

at 95-96.  In John R. Sand & Gravel Co., the Supreme Court clarified that the presumption could 

be rebutted by pre-Irwin precedent or clear legislative intent otherwise.  552 U.S. at 136-38. 

Because the Supreme Court had ruled in cases decided prior to Irwin that the Little Tucker Act 

claims subject to Section 2501 could not be equitably tolled, the Court chose not to overrule 

those earlier cases.  Id. at 137.  In Kwai Fun Wong, the Supreme Court applied the Irwin rule to 

28 U.S.C. § 2401(b) to find that equitable tolling was available. 

And so we wind up back where we started, with Irwin's “general rule” that 

equitable tolling is available in suits against the Government. 498 U.S., at 95, 111 

S.Ct. 453. The justification the Government offers for departing from that 

principle fails: Section 2401(b) is not a jurisdictional requirement. The time limits 

in the FTCA are just time limits, nothing more. Even though they govern 

litigation against the Government, a court can toll them on equitable grounds. 

 

Kwai Fun Wong, 135 S. Ct. at 1633. 

 

 Here, there is no 10th Circuit or Supreme Court precedent (either pre-Irwin or post) that 

addresses whether equitable tolling is available for cases subject to the limitations period in 

2401(a).  Further, there is nothing in the statute itself or elsewhere that is “an affirmative 

indication from Congress that it intends to preclude equitable tolling in a suit against the 

Government.” Kwai Fun Wong, 135 S. Ct. at 1638.  Accordingly, the Supreme Court’s rule in 

Irwin, as further clarified in John R. Sand & Gravel Co. and Kwai Fun Wong, supports the 

finding that equitable tolling is available.   

Case 4:17-cv-00025-TCK-JFJ   Document 25 Filed in USDC ND/OK on 07/18/17   Page 7 of 16



8 

 

 C. Persimmon’s Entitlement to Equitable Tolling. 

 Persimmon is entitled to the equitable tolling if it can show: (1) that they have been 

pursuing their rights diligently; and (2) some extraordinary circumstance stood in their way.  

Pace v. DiGuglielmo, 544 U.S. 408, 418 (2005). The Tenth Circuit “has applied equitable tolling 

when the defendant’s conduct rises to the level of active deception; where a plaintiff has been 

lulled into inaction by a defendant, and ‘likewise, if a plaintiff is actively misled or has in some 

extraordinary way been prevented from asserting his or her rights.’” United States v. Clymore, 

245 F.3d 1195, 1199 (10th Cir. 2001)(alterations and citations omitted.).   

 The Federal Respondents argue that Persimmon is not entitled to equitable tolling even if 

available because Persimmon has not alleged that it diligently pursued its rights.  This argument 

misses the mark.  Persimmon contends that the BIA engaged in a scheme to conceal, mislead or 

lull Persimmon (and other surface owners in Osage County) into inaction by failing to provide 

notice of its approvals in the absence of NEPA compliance to landowners such as Persimmon.5  

See FAC, ¶¶ 33-50.  Further, diligence does not require an overzealous or extreme pursuit of any 

and every avenue of relief, but does require the effort that a reasonable person might be expected 

to deliver under his or her particular circumstances. Mishewal Wappo Tribe of Alexander Valley 

v. Jewell, 84 F.Supp.3d 930, 942. (citing Doe v. Busby, 661 F.3d 1001, 1015 (9th Cir.2011)). The 

“diligence required for equitable tolling purposes is reasonable diligence, not maximum feasible 

diligence.” Holland v. Florida, 560 U.S. 631, 653 (2010) (citation and internal quotation marks 

omitted).   Here, the Agency’s lack of notice and active concealment lulled Persimmon into 

inaction.  Moreover, Persimmon acted similarly to the thousands of other landowners in Osage 

                                                 
5 The Federal Respondents argue that the Agency was not required to provide notice of the 

approvals, but this is clearly false.  See 25 C.F.R. § 2.7(a)(“The official making a decision shall 

give all interested parties known to the decisionmaker written notice of the decision by personal 

delivery or mail.”).   
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County who had oil and gas activity approved on their land without any semblance of 

environmental analysis or notice of the said approvals. From the time that NEPA was enacted in 

1970 to the filing of the Donelson lawsuit in May 2014, there were only two lawsuits filed 

concerning the Osage Agency’s NEPA violations, and those suits were filed in 1977 by two 

ranchers represented by the same attorneys.  To find that Persimmon did not act reasonably 

under the circumstances would require a determination that every other landowner in Osage with 

oil and gas activity on their property in violation of NEPA also failed to act reasonably, or that 

the others were able to discover the Agency’s violation but chose not to pursue their rights. 

 The Federal Respondents also argue that Persimmon had “constructive knowledge of the 

facts constituting its claim for relief.” [Dkt. 21, p. 13].  The Federal Respondents do not provide 

any authority for this argument, and do not expand upon this argument other than a conclusory 

statement that “[Persimmon] reasonably should have known of the existence of its causes of 

action at the time of their accrual or shortly thereafter.”  Id. This begs the question, how could 

Persimmon have known of its claims if the Agency was actively concealing its NEPA violations 

from not only the public, but the DOI?  Persimmon requests that this Court defer ruling on this 

issue until after discovery as set forth in the Motion for Leave to Conduct Discovery to be filed. 

 D. Persimmon is Entitled to Tolling From Date of Filing of First Amended  

  Complaint in Donelson. 

 

 To the extent that the statute of limitations began running prior to August 11, 2014, 

Persimmon is entitled to tolling based upon the filing of the class action in Donelson.  In 

Donelson, the plaintiffs filed their First Amended Complaint on August 11, 2014, seeking 

certification of a class action on behalf of all surface owners similarly situated (including 

Persimmon) against the Federal Respondents and all producers in Osage County to remedy 

violations of NEPA.  The claims in Donelson are substantially similar to those brought herein. 
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According to American Pipe Construction Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538 (1974) and Crown, Cork & 

Seal Co., Inc. v. Parker, 462 U.S. 345 (1983), the six-year statute of limitation for APA cases 

was tolled when the First Amended Complaint was filed in Donelson and such tolling continues 

until class certification is denied.  The filing of this action before the court in Donelson rules on 

class certification does not deprive Persimmon of the tolling benefits of American Pipe.  See 

State Farm Mutual auto. Ins. Co. v. Boellstorff, 540 F.3d 1223, 1235 (10th Cir. 2008). 

The Federal Respondents claim that Donelson does not toll the statute of limitations for 

this matter because no motion for class certification was ever filed in the case. [Dkt. 39, p. 10].  

The Federal Respondents fail to provide any authority for this proposition.  Moreover, the 

Federal Respondents are incorrect.  Class action tolling begins upon the filing of a complaint for 

a class action, not upon the filing of a motion for certification of the class.  “[T]he 

commencement of the original class suit tolls the running of the statute for all purported 

members of the class . . . .”  Am. Pipe & Const. Co. v. Utah, 414 U.S. 538, 553 (1974) (emphasis 

added).  American Pipe is clear that the tolling effect begins upon the “commencement” of the 

suit, i.e., the filing of the complaint.  Id.  Specifically, in American Pipe, the court references the 

filing of the complaint on May 13, 1969 as the period for the beginning of the tolling period.   Id. 

at 541 and 561 (referencing the commencement of the suit eleven days prior to the running of the 

statute of limitations.  Accordingly, even if the statute of limitations had begun running on 

Persimmon’s APA claims prior to the filing of Donelson, it was tolled beginning August 11, 

2014, when the First Amended Complaint in Donelson was filed.   

IV. UNITED STATES’ WAIVER OF SOVEREIGN IMMUNITY IN APA CASES IS 

 NOT LIMITED TO CHALLENGES TO FINAL AGENCY ACTION. 

 

 The Federal Respondents contend that the challenged approvals do not represent “final 

agency action” because Persimmon has failed to exhaust administrative remedies, and therefore 
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the waiver of sovereign immunity in the APA does not apply. [Dkt. 21, pp. 15-20].  This 

argument fails for two reasons.  First, as shown infra in Section V, the challenged approvals 

constitute final agency action that are either not subject to exhaustion or are excused from 

exhaustion based upon actions of Osage Agency.  Second, the APA’s waiver is not limited to 

cases challenging final agency actions, as the United States has waived sovereign immunity with 

respect to all non-monetary actions brought against it.  See 5 U.S.C. § 702 (“An action in a court 

of the United States seeking relief other than money damages and stating a claim that an 

agency or an officer or employee thereof acted or failed to act in an official capacity or under 

color of legal authority shall not be dismissed nor relief therein be denied on the ground that it is 

against the United States or that the United States is an indispensable party.”). 

 Because Persimmon does not seek monetary damages against the United States in this 

action, sovereign immunity does not bar Persimmon’s claim.  See Muniz-Muniz v. U.S. Border 

Patrol, 741 F.3d 668, 673-74 (6th Cir. 2013); Treasurer of N.J. v.  U.S. Dep’t  of  Treasury, 684 

F.3d 382, 398-99 (3d Cir. 2012); Nulankeyutmonen Nkihtaqmikon v. Impson, 503 F.3d 18, 33 

(1st Cir. 2007); Trudeau v. F.T.C., 456 F.3d 178, 186-87 (D.C. Cir. 2006); Simmat v. U.S. 

Bureau of Prisons, 413 F.3d 1225, 1233 (10th Cir. 2005); United Tribe of Shawnee Indians v. 

United States, 253 F.3d 543, 549-50 (10th Cir. 2001). Accordingly, Persimmon has met its 

burden of establishing a waiver of sovereign immunity by the United States to be sued in this 

matter. 

V. THE CHALLENGED APPROVALS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO EXHAUSTION 

 DOCTRINE. 
 
 Finally, the Federal Respondents make the argument that Persimmon has failed to 
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exhaust administrative remedies with respect to the challenged approvals.6  This claim also fails. 

 A. Exhaustion is Not Required. 

 A party can be required to exhaust administrative remedies under the APA only when 

doing so is:  (a) expressly required by statute or an agency rule and (b) the administrative action 

“is made inoperative pending that review.”   Darby v. Cisneros, 509 U.S. 137, 154 (1993).  The 

first prong is not met here because no statute or regulation mandates exhaustion prior to 

challenging a BIA decision.  Here, the applicable BIA regulations only provides that decisions 

“may” be appealed.  25 C.F.R. § 2.7(c); 25 C.F.R. § 226.44 (emphasis added).   Other courts 

have held that similar “may” appeal language is non-mandatory.  Dine Citizens Against Ruining 

Our Env’t v. Klein (“Dine CARE”), 676 F. Supp. 2d 1198, 1207-09 (D. Colo. 2009); San Juan 

Citizens All. v. Babbitt, 228 F. Supp. 2d 1224, 1232-33 (D. Colo. 2002).   

 The Federal Respondents’ reliance on Coosewoon v. Meridian Oil Co., 25 F.3d 920 

(10th Cir. 1994), is misplaced because that case addressed an agency failure to act.  Id. at 924-25.  

A failure to act case has fundamental differences with an affirmative agency action case. In the 

former, there is not a discrete action to challenge until after the complainant follows a specific 

administrative procedure.  See e.g., 25 C.F.R. § 2.8.  In an affirmative agency action case, there is 

a discrete decision, e.g., lease or drilling permit approval, that can be reviewed. 

 25 C.F.R. § 2.6(a) also has no relevance where the Agency, by its actions, determined 

that the decision should be immediately effective at the time that it made the decision.  In other 

words, the challenged decisions herein were never subject to an appeal because the Osage 

Agency Superintendent, at the time of the decision and without providing any notice of appeal 

                                                 
6 In support of its argument, the Federal Respondents repeatedly cite to the unpublished ruling by 

Judge Payne in Chance v. Zinke, No. 16-CV-00549-JHP-FHM.  However, and case is currently 

on appeal with the Tenth Circuit, and its reasoning is faulty.  Persimmon submits that Chance is 

not appropriate authority for the propositions asserted by the Federal Respondents. 
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rights, determined “that the decision be made effective immediately.”  Thus, the challenged 

decisions herein were final agency actions and exhaustion was not required. See Hanson v. 

Wyatt, 552 F.3d 1148, 1156 (10th Cir. 2008) (“[A]n agency decision can sometimes be final for 

purposes of the APA despite the failure to exhaust administrative remedies, . . .”). 

 The Federal Respondents note that the purpose of the exhaustion doctrine is to avoid 

premature interruption of the administrative process and to permit the agency to apply its 

expertise and possibly avoid court intervention. [Dkt. 21, p. 19].  Here, a finding that the 

challenged approvals were final agency actions subject to judicial review does not frustrate the 

purposes of the exhaustion doctrine because the Agency’s actions demonstrate that the approvals 

were the “consummation” of the decision-making process. Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. 154, 177-

78 (1997). 

 B. If Exhaustion Is Required, The Court Should Excuse Under These   

  Circumstances. 

 

 Even if exhaustion were required, this Court should excuse exhaustion under a number of 

recognized exceptions.  For example, exhaustion is excused where the plaintiff “was not 

provided a meaningful opportunity to participate in the administrative process,” or “was not 

properly notified of the administrative remedies available to it.” Dine CARE, 676 F. Supp. 2d at 

1210-11; see also Nulankeyutmonen Nkihtaqmikon v. Impson, 573 F. Supp. 2d 311 (D. Me. 

2008).  Also, exhaustion is not required when “an agency has adopted a policy or pursued a 

practice of general applicability that is contrary to law.”  Ass'n for Cnty. Living in Colorado v. 

Romer, 992 F.2d 1040, 1044 (10th Cir. 1993)(citing H.R.Rep. No. 296, 99th Cong., 1st Sess. 7 

(1985)). Further, exhaustion has been excused when resorting to the administrative process 

would be futile. Gilmore v. Weatherford, 694 F.3d 1160, 1169 (10th Cir. 2012). 
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 Here, the Osage Agency did not provide any notice to Persimmon (or any landowners) of 

the granting of the lease approvals, drilling permits or assignments.  Such failure to provide 

notice violated 25 C.F.R. § 2.7(a). The Agency did not advise Persimmon (or any landowners) of 

the right to appeal in violation of 25 C.F.R. § 2.7(c).  Instead, the Agency granted the lessees 

immediate access to Persimmon’s property after approval of the lease.  Further, the Agency 

granted drilling permits without notice to Persimmon, and the Agency allowed the lessees to 

immediately commence drilling operations, where often the well was completed within the 

thirty-day appeal period.  Accordingly, the Agency’s actions in approving these leases, drilling 

permits and assignments thereof were final agency actions, or the “consummation” of the 

agency’s decision-making.  Bennett v. Spear, 520 U.S. at 177-78. 

 Most significantly, exhaustion of administration remedies is futile where the Agency has 

engaged in these hide-the-ball tactics.  As detailed above, the Agency treated these approvals as 

final.  However, once the Agency was sued by an aggrieved party seeking relief from the 

arbitrary and capricious final agency the action, the Federal Respondents claimed the approvals 

were actually not “final” agency actions.  “The irony is that if the BIA routinely fails to give 

notice of appellate rights, fails to stay the project, and fails to make a public interest 

determination, no one—except the BIA, the directly affected parties, and unusually canny 

opponents—will know that the BIA has violated its regulations and that opponents had a right to 

administrative review.”  Nulankeyutmonen, 573 F. Supp. 2d at 330.  The Agency’s actions are in 

bad faith, and the Agency should not be permitted to delay judicial review by requiring 

exhaustion when its policy and practice prior to being sued is to treat the approvals of leases, 

drilling permits and assignments as “final.” 
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CONCLUSION 

 

 For the foregoing reasons, Petitioner, Persimmon Ridge, LLC, respectfully requests that 

this Court deny the Motion to Dismiss and order the Federal Respondents to answer the First 

Amended Complaint.  Alternatively, if the Court finds that the Federal Respondent’s Motion to 

Dismiss is meritorious, Petitioner requests leave to amend the First Amended Complaint to cure 

any deficiencies. 

Respectfully Submitted, 

 

s/Donald A. Lepp                        

Gentner F. Drummond, OBA No. 16645 

Donald A. Lepp, OBA No. 16260 

DRUMMOND LAW, PLLC 

1500 South Utica, Suite 400 

Tulsa, Oklahoma 74104-6522 

(918) 749-7378 - telephone 

(918) 749-7869 - facsimile 

DAL@drumlaw.com; federalfiling@drumlaw.com 

 Attorneys for Plaintiff 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 

I hereby certify that on this 18th day of July, 2018, I electronically transmitted 

Petitioner’s Response in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss to the Clerk of Court using the ECF 

System and transmittal of a Notice of Electronic Filing to all persons who have entered their 

appearance as ECF registrants in this case.  

 

 

/s/Donald A. Lepp __________  

Donald A. Lepp 
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